
  
  

VILLAGE  OF  DECATUR 
ZONING BOARD OF 
APPEALS     MEETING 
AGENDA 

  

       

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Monday       
November 7,  
2022  



  

 
5:00 PM ZBA Meeting (Action to be taken by the Commission on the following agenda items) Note:  Please be 
courteous and turn cell phones off during the meeting.  
  
1. CALL TO ORDER  
  
2. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE  

 
3. ROLL CALL (Excused Absences, if Any)  

 
4. PUBLIC COMMENT  
  
5. APPROVAL OF AGENDA & MEETING MINUTES 

  
           5A - Approval of the Regular Meeting Agenda for November 7, 2022 
            5B – Approval of the Regular Meeting Minutes for October 3, 2022  
                 
6. PUBLIC HEARING 

 
 7A –Application from Harley’s Gentleman’s Club, 105 N. Phelps Street  Decatur, MI 49045, seeking appeal 
of the Zoning Administrator denial of non-conforming use. 
 

7. UNFINISHED BUSINESS 
 
8. NEW BUSINESS  

 
9. ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS COMMENTS  

 
10. ADJOURNMENT  
 
PLEASE NOTE  
  
AUDIENCE PARTICIPATION:  
Members of the public may address the Zoning Board of Appeals during public hearings and under “Public 
Comment, “please limit your comments to three minutes or less per item. Please step up to the podium and state 
your name and address.  
  
The proposed process for items listed under agenda items above shall be as follows:  

  
1. Announcement of the agenda item by the Chairperson.  
2. Verbal report provided by staff.  
3. The Chairperson asks Commission members if they have any questions for staff to clarify the staff report.  
4. Motion is made by a Commission member and seconded by another Commission member.  
5. The chairperson calls on Commission members to discuss the motion if Commission members wish   to discuss.  
6. Chairperson calls for a vote on the item after discussion has occurred.   

  

  
  

VILLAGE OF DECATUR – Zoning Board of Appeals 
REGULAR MEETING  
Monday, November 7, 2022 – 5:00PM  
Village Hall – 114 N. Phelps Street, Decatur, MI 49045  



1 | P a g e  
 

Village of Decatur 

Zoning Board of Appeals Meeting Minutes  
Monday October 3, 2022, at 6:00 P.M  

Village Hall, 114 N. Phelps Street  
Decatur, MI 49045 

I. Trustee Gunther called the meeting to order at 6:00 P.M. 
 

II. Roll Call 
 
Clerk/Treasurer, Duncan provided roll call; Trustee Benson, Trustee Gunther, President Pro Tem 
Jackson (excused), Trustee Mead Jr, Trustee Pelfrey, Trustee Verran, and President Elwaer 
(excused) in attendance. Also in attendance Village Manager, Christopher Tapper, Village 
Clerk/Treasurer, Megan Duncan. 
 

III. Public Comments 
 

a. Kali Marshall, Van Buren Conservation District, made public comment about Van Buren 
Recycle Roundup Collection in Lawrence at the ISD on October 15, 2022. Electronics 
and hazardous waste will be accepted. Dump Day 2023 was also discussed.  

IV. Approval of Agenda 
 

a. Trustee Verran made a motion with support from Trustee Mead Jr to approve the agenda 
for October 3, 2022, motion carried 5-0. 
 

V. Approval of By-Laws 
 

a. Trustee Benson made a motion with support from Trustee Verran to approve the Zoning 
Board of Appeals By-Laws, motion carried 5-0. 
 

VI. Public Hearing  
 

a. Trustee Pelfrey made a motion with support from Trustee Benson to close the regular 
session and enter into a Public Hearing at 6:03 PM, motion carried 5-0.  
 
No public comment was given.  
 
Discussion was made regarding application from James Hinch II, 410 Harrison Street, 
seeking appeal of the Zoning Administer denial of non-conforming use. Village Manager 
Tapper, proceeded with review of the finding of facts regarding application. It should be 
noted that the report was provide in the agenda packet dated October 3, 2022.   
 

b. Trustee Verran made a motion with the support from Trustee Mead Jr to close the Public 
Hearing and enter back into Regular Council Meeting, motion carried 5-0, at 6:21 PM.  

 



2 | P a g e  
 

c. Trustee Mead Jr. made a motion with support from Trustee Verran to approve James 
Hinch II Zoning Board of Appeals Application, and grant relief to the applicant, motion 
carried 5-0. 
 

VII. Unfinished Business  
 

a. No unfinished business currently.  
 
 

VIII. New Business – Request to schedule a public hearing for Monday, November 7, 2022. 
 

a. Trustee Benson made a motion with support from Trustee Verran to schedule a Public 
Hearing regarding the application received by HSSA,105 N. Phelps Street with Zoning 
Board of Appeals on November 7, 2022, at 5:00 PM. 
 

XV. Zoning Board of Appeals Comments 
  

a. No comments were given.   

 
XVI. Adjournment 

 
a. Trustee Mead Jr. made a motion with the support of Trustee Pelfrey to adjourn the meeting 

at 6:34 P.M., motion carried 5-0. Minutes submitted by Megan Duncan, Village 
Clerk/Treasurer. 

 
 
 



VILLAGE OF DECATUR 
VAN BUREN COUNTY, MICHIGAN 

 
NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING AND ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS MEETING 

 
TO: THE RESIDENTS AND PROPERTY OWNERS OF THE VILLAGE OF DECATUR, VAN 

BUREN COUNTY, MICHIGAN AND ALL OTHER INTERESTED PARTIES. 
 
PLEASE TAKE NOTICE that a Public Hearing/Special Meeting will be held by the Village 
of Decatur Zoning Board of Appeals on Monday, November 7, 2022, at 5:00 p.m. at the 
Decatur Village Hall located at 114 North Phelps Street within the Village. 
 
PLEASE TAKE NOTICE that the item(s) to be considered at this Public Hearing include, in 
brief, the following: 
 

1. Appeal the denial from Zoning Administrator, regarding abandonment of Nonconforming 
Use, Harley’s Gentleman’s Club, 105 North Phelps Street, Decatur, MI 49045.  

2. Such other and further matters as may properly come before the Zoning Board of 
Appeals 

 
 PLEASE TAKE FURTHER NOTICE that written comments will be taken from any 
interested person concerning the appeal at the email address of the Village Clerk, 
mduncan@decaturmi.us at any time during regular business hours up to 12:00 p.m. on 
the date of the hearing and will further be received by the Zoning Board of Appeals at the 
time of said hearing.   
 
The Village of Decatur will provide necessary reasonable auxiliary aids and services to 
individuals with disabilities at the hearing upon four (4) days’ notice to the Village Clerk.   
 

VILLAGE OF DECATUR PLANNING COMMISSION 
Megan Duncan, Village Clerk 

Decatur Village Hall 
114 North Phelps St. 
Decatur, MI  49045 

 
 
 

 
 































































































Attorney Memorandum
Intended for Public Release

To: Village of Decatur Zoning Board of Appeals (ZBA)

From: Nick Curcio, Village Attorney

Re: Appeal Regarding Abandonment of Nonconforming Use
Harley’s Gentlemen’s Club – 105 N. Phelps Street 

Date: October 18, 2022

At its meeting of November 7, 2022, the ZBA will consider an appeal filed by HSS 

Financial, LLC, which is the record title owner of the property at 105 N. Phelps Street

(“Property”). The application is signed by Mr. Harley Scholtz, who is the registered agent 

for HSS. The application further indicates that Mr. Scholtz and his wife Jennifer owned 

and operated a topless bar known as Harley’s Gentleman’s Club on the property from 

2013 to 2020, under a state liquor license issued to an entity called Harley’s Cabaret, 

Inc. Through the appeal, Mr. and Mrs. Scholtz are challenging zoning administrator Joe 

Kline’s determination that they abandoned the right to continue using the Property as a 

topless bar by closing it in 2020 and indicating a desire to transition to other uses.

This memo provides guidance to the ZBA regarding the legal standards to be used 

in considering the appeal. Because the Michigan Zoning Enabling Act (MZEA) charges 

the ZBA with the responsibility of deciding zoning appeals, it would be inappropriate for 

me to opine on the ultimate issue of whether Mr. Kline’s determination should be 

upheld. Rather, my intent is to explain the applicable law in order to assist the ZBA in 

making that determination. Further, part 2 below provides guidance regarding the 

mechanics of rendering a decision on the appeal.

1. Legal Standards

In 2017, the Village of Decatur adopted new zoning regulations that prohibit 

sexually oriented businesses within 1,000 feet of residences, parks and churches.1 In light 

of these new regulations, the topless bar that had historically been operated at the 

Property no longer complies with the zoning ordinance.

The MZEA provides that “[i]f the use of a dwelling, building, or structure or of the 

land is lawful at the time of enactment of a zoning ordinance or an amendment to a 

1 Zoning Ordinance § 42-139(2)-(3).



2 

zoning ordinance, then that use may be continued although the use does not conform 

to the zoning ordinance or amendment.”2 This rule is known as the doctrine of lawful 

nonconforming uses or, in layman’s terms, “grandfathering.” The ability to continue a 

lawful nonconforming use is a property right that a municipality cannot terminate simply 

by adopting a new ordinance. Rather, a municipality may only terminate a lawful 

nonconforming use by purchasing the property right from the property owner or 

acquiring it through eminent domain.3 Additionally, a nonconforming use may be 

abandoned by the property owner, and after abandonment the owner no longer has the 

right to resume the use.4 Together, these rules balance the rights of the property owner 

with the municipality’s interest in zoning compliance. As courts have explained, “[o]ne 

of the goals of zoning is the eventual elimination of nonconforming uses, so that growth 

and development sought by ordinances can be achieved.”5 

 In disputes regarding the continuation of nonconforming uses, the municipality 

bears the burden of establishing that the property owner intentionally abandoned the 

use.6 The two necessary elements of abandonment are: (1) that the owner had the intent 

to abandon the right to continue the use; and (2) an act or omission on the part of the 

owner that clearly manifests the voluntary decision to abandon.7 In other words, the fact 

that the owner has temporarily stopped using the property for a particular use is not, in 

and of itself, sufficient to establish abandonment.8 Accordingly, in a notable case cited 

by HSS, the Court of Appeals held that the owner of a hotel did not abandon the right 

to operate a hotel restaurant by ceasing restaurant operation for 5 years, because there 

was evidence in the record that the owner continuously sought potential partners to 

operate the restaurant throughout that period.9 

 While there are few other published Michigan cases discussing the doctrine of 

abandonment, a prominent commentator has reviewed decisions from across the 

2 MCL 125.3208(1). 
3 See MCL 125.3208(3). 
4 Dusdal v Warren, 387 Mich 354, 360 (1972). 
5 Norton Shores v Carr, 81 Mich App 715, 720 (1978). 
6 Dusdal, 387 Mich at 360. 
7 Livonia Hotel, LLC v City of Livonia, 259 Mich App 116, 128 (2003). 
8 Id. 
9 Id. at 128-129. 



3 

country and described other types of evidence that might be relevant to establishing an 

intent to abandon: 

Proof of a previous landowner’s decision to dissolve a corporation considered a 
pre-existing nonconforming use and his choice to cease doing business 
sufficiently met [the burden of establishing intent to abandon]. Attempts to sell 
a property for uses other than nonconforming uses, statements of the owner not 
to return to the site in question, and removal of equipment integral to the 
nonconforming use are all acts that have been found equating to the 
abandonment of a nonconforming use.10 

This list of relevant evidence might be considered persuasive to a Michigan court 

reviewing an abandonment claim,11 but it would not constitute binding precedent. 

Further, when there is conflicting evidence in the record regarding the owner’s intent to 

abandon, a court would likely weigh the various pieces of evidence to determine which 

is ultimately more relevant and persuasive.12 To the extent the ZBA finds conflicting 

evidence in this case, I would recommend that it thoroughly discuss each piece of 

evidence individually and indicate on the record why it views some pieces of evidence to 

be more important than others. 

2. Rendering a Decision 

 After hearing public comment on the application and discussing the evidence, the 

ZBA should render its decision by motion. The MZEA provides: “The concurring vote 

of a majority of the members of the zoning board of appeals is necessary to reverse an 

order, requirement, decision, or determination of the administrative official or body.” 

Accordingly, if one or more members of the ZBA believes that the zoning administrator 

erred in determining that HSS abandoned its nonconforming sexually oriented business 

use, the ZBA should consider a motion something like the following: 

Motion to reverse the zoning administrator’s August 18 determination that HSS 
abandoned the nonconforming use of the property at 105 N. Phelps Street 
because the evidence presented in HSS’s application disproves the finding of 

10 Salkin, Abandonment, Discontinuance and Amortization of Nonconforming Uses: Lessons for Drafters of 
Zoning Regulations, 38 Real Est LJ 486, 494 (2010).  
11 Notably, the Michigan Court of Appeals has previously cited other portions of Professor Salkin’s 
article. See Deer Lake Prop. Owners Ass'n v. Indep. Charter Twp., Case No 343965 (Mich App 2019). 
12 See, e.g., S & S Auto Sales, Inc v Zoning Bd for Stratford, 862 A2d 1204, 1211 (NJ Super 2004) 
("Contrary manifestations may corroborate and substantiate the expressed intent to continue the 
nonconforming use. Such circumstances, pro or con, must be qualitatively weighed to determine 
whether the owner has met his or her burden of establishing a continuing and definite intention to 
continue the use.").  



4 

intent to abandon. The ZBA finds the following evidence particularly persuasive: 
[reference particular pieces of evidence such as: (1) statements from the owners and their 
real estate agents indicating that they marketed the property to buyers interested in 
continuing the topless bar use; (2) LARA documentation showing that the topless bar 
permit has been escrowed for future use; and/or (3) evidence indicating that the interior 
of the property is still set up for use as a topless bar]. 

If no member of the ZBA wishes to make a motion reversing the zoning administrator’s 

decision, or if such a motion fails for lack of support, the ZBA could then consider an 

alternative motion to affirm. A motion to affirm might be something like the following: 

 Motion to affirm the zoning administrator’s August 18 determination that HSS 
abandoned the nonconforming use of the property at 105 N. Phelps Street 
because the evidence presented in HSS’s application and the zoning 
administrator’s October 18 letter confirms the findings of nonuse and intent to 
abandon. The ZBA finds the following evidence particularly persuasive: [reference 
particular pieces of evidence such as: (1) the February 6, 2018 email in which Jennifer 
Scholtz stated that she did not like owning Harley’s; (2) statements from the owners 
indicating that the business has been closed since March 2020; (3) statements from the 
Village Manager and Police Chief regarding discussions about using the property for other 
purposes and selling the liquor licenses separate from the property; (4) the real estate listing 
that refers to the property as a “former Gentlemen’s Club” and does not list topless bar as 
a potential future use; (5) LARA documentation indicating that Harley’s has not filed an 
annual report since 2020; and/or (6) LARA documentation indicating that Harley’s 
liquor license is transferable to other properties and that no additional fee was paid to 
escrow the topless bar permit]. 

I will be in attendance at your November 7 meeting and can assist you in formulating 

any motion you would like to make, and can answer any legal questions you may have. 

 



















Former Gentlemen's Club
105 N Phelps Street | Decatur

Former Gentlemen's Club
Liquor License Included!
Business / Multi-Use / Retail / To Be Determined
For Sale
105 N Phelps Street
Decatur, Michigan

Overview:

Formally a gentleman's club which drew large crowds 
from both local and afar. Dance floor, plenty of seating, 
gorgeous bar, locker room, VIP booths, and open 
basement with cooler etc. Two 5 ton AC units, located 
on roof, newer roof (19'), liquor license included which 
includes Sunday Service + beer to go!

Contact Information:
Eric Bolles 
(269) 373-8108 [direct]
(269) 535-4576 [mobile]
ebolles@ccmichigan.com

Zachery VandeWeerd 
(269) 384-8367 [direct]
(269) 271-5090 [mobile]
zvandeweerd@ccmichigan.com

Information:
County: Van Buren
Municipality: Decatur Village
Gross Size: 4,180 SF
Buildings / Units: 1 Building / 1 Unit 
Building Levels: 1 Level
Total Acres: 0.09 Acres 
Year Built: 1965
Construction: Block / Concrete
Sewer / Water: Public / Public
Heat Type / Source: Forced Air / Gas
Parking # / Type: 10 / Municipal
Restrooms: 2 / Common Area
Air Conditioning: Central Air
Utilities Attached: Gas and Electric
Utilities Available: All Public Utilities
RE Taxes / Year: $2,786.75 / 2021 

Sale Price:

$299,000

info@ccmichigan.com | 628 West Milham Road, Portage, MI 49024 - 269.349.1000 | 99 Monroe Ave NW, Suite 200, Grand Rapids, MI - 616.459.8000

All information contained herein is provided as is, without warranty. Callander Commercial does not assume any liability for errors or omissions.



Former Gentlemen's Club
105 N Phelps Street | Decatur

PROPERTY PHOTOS

info@ccmichigan.com | 628 West Milham Road, Portage, MI 49024 - 269.349.1000 | 99 Monroe Ave NW, Suite 200, Grand Rapids, MI - 616.459.8000

All information contained herein is provided as is, without warranty. Callander Commercial does not assume any liability for errors or omissions.



Former Gentlemen's Club
105 N Phelps Street | Decatur

INTERIOR PHOTOS

info@ccmichigan.com | 628 West Milham Road, Portage, MI 49024 - 269.349.1000 | 99 Monroe Ave NW, Suite 200, Grand Rapids, MI - 616.459.8000

All information contained herein is provided as is, without warranty. Callander Commercial does not assume any liability for errors or omissions.



Former Gentlemen's Club
105 N Phelps Street | Decatur

INTERIOR PHOTOS

info@ccmichigan.com | 628 West Milham Road, Portage, MI 49024 - 269.349.1000 | 99 Monroe Ave NW, Suite 200, Grand Rapids, MI - 616.459.8000

All information contained herein is provided as is, without warranty. Callander Commercial does not assume any liability for errors or omissions.



Former Gentlemen's Club
105 N Phelps Street | Decatur

AERIAL PHOTOS

info@ccmichigan.com | 628 West Milham Road, Portage, MI 49024 - 269.349.1000 | 99 Monroe Ave NW, Suite 200, Grand Rapids, MI - 616.459.8000

All information contained herein is provided as is, without warranty. Callander Commercial does not assume any liability for errors or omissions.



Former Gentlemen's Club
105 N Phelps Street | Decatur

LOCATION AERIAL 

info@ccmichigan.com | 628 West Milham Road, Portage, MI 49024 - 269.349.1000 | 99 Monroe Ave NW, Suite 200, Grand Rapids, MI - 616.459.8000

All information contained herein is provided as is, without warranty. Callander Commercial does not assume any liability for errors or omissions.



ID Number: 800762708 Request certificate Return to Results New search

Summary for: HARLEY'S CABARET, INC.

The name of the DOMESTIC PROFIT CORPORATION: HARLEY'S CABARET, INC.

Entity type: DOMESTIC PROFIT CORPORATION

Identification Number: 800762708 Old ID Number: 04719P

Date of Incorporation in Michigan: 10/18/2012

Purpose: All Purpose Clause

Term: Perpetual

Most Recent Annual Report: 2020 Most Recent Annual Report with Officers & Directors: 2018

The name and address of the Resident Agent:

Resident Agent Name: HARLEY SCHOLTZ

Street Address: 46847 WOODFIELD DR

Apt/Suite/Other:

City: MATTAWAN State: MI Zip Code: 49071

Registered Office Mailing address:

P.O. Box or Street Address:

Apt/Suite/Other:

City: State: Zip Code:

The Officers and Directors of the Corporation:

Title Name Address

PRESIDENT HARLEY SCHOLTZ 46847 WOODFIELD DR MATTAWAN, MI 49071 USA

TREASURER HARLEY SCHOLTZ 46847 WOODFIELD DR MATTAWAN, MI 49071 USA

SECRETARY HARLEY SCHOLTZ 46847 WOODFIELD DR MATTAWAN, MI 49071 USA

DIRECTOR HARLEY SCHOLTZ 46847 WOODFIELD DR MATTAWAN, MI 49071 USA

Act Formed Under: 284-1972 Business Corporation Act

Total Authorized Shares: 60,000

Written Consent

View Assumed Names for this Business Entity

LARA Home Contact LARA Online Services News MI.gov

Search Summary State of Michigan Corporations Division https://cofs.lara.state.mi.us/CorpWeb/CorpSearch/CorpSummary.aspx?...

1 of 2 10/12/22, 4:10 PM



View filings for this business entity:

ALL FILINGS
ANNUAL REPORT/ANNUAL STATEMENTS
ARTICLES OF INCORPORATION
RESTATED ARTICLES OF INCORPORATION

View filings

Comments or notes associated with this business entity:

LARA FOIA Process Transparency Office of Regulatory Reinvention State Web Sites

Michigan.gov Home ADA Michigan News Policies

Copyright 2022 State of Michigan

Search Summary State of Michigan Corporations Division https://cofs.lara.state.mi.us/CorpWeb/CorpSearch/CorpSummary.aspx?...

2 of 2 10/12/22, 4:10 PM



Business Entity
Name: HARLEY'S CABARET, INC.

Order certified
copies

Name of filing Year filed Date filed Filing No. View PDF

ANNUAL REPORT 2020 05/06/2020 220271595180 220271595180.pdf,
2 pgs

ANNUAL REPORT 2019 07/09/2019 201980101390 201980101390.pdf,
2 pgs

ANNUAL REPORT 2018 08/15/2018 201889509530 201889509530.pdf,
1 pgs

ANNUAL REPORT 2018 04/20/2018 201856335140 201856335140.pdf,
2 pgs

ANNUAL REPORT 2017 05/19/2017 INT0001B0C0.TIF ,
1 pgs

ANNUAL REPORT 2016 12/21/2016 INT00056FD0.TIF ,
1 pgs

ANNUAL REPORT 2016 11/01/2016 INT00044BD2.TIF ,
1 pgs

ANNUAL REPORT 2015 04/13/2015 GSI02171231.TIF ,
1 pgs

ANNUAL REPORT 2014 03/25/2014 GSI01802246.TIF ,
1 pgs

ANNUAL REPORT 2013 11/15/2013 GSI01569016.TIF ,
1 pgs

Note: Annual reports and annual statements that were filed more than ten years ago
are not available through Business Entity Search. To order copies of annual reports or
annual statements that were filed more than ten years ago, you may contact the
Archives of Michigan at archives@michigan.gov or by calling (517) 335-2573.

Return to entity summary Order filings

LARA FOIA Process Transparency Office of Regulatory Reinvention State Web Sites

Michigan.gov Home ADA Michigan News Policies

Copyright 2022 State of Michigan

LARA Home Contact LARA Online Services News MI.gov

LARA - Corporations Division https://cofs.lara.state.mi.us/CorpWeb/CorpSearch/CorpSearchFormList....

1 of 1 10/13/22, 6:02 PM



Escrow Rules and Good Cause Requirements 
(Authorized by administrative rules R 436.1047 and R 436.1107) 

R 436.1107 - Renewal of license (Rule 7 of the Michigan administrative code) 

(1) A license that is not in active operation shall be placed in escrow with the Commission. 

(2) A licensee shall have only 5 licensing years after the expiration date of the escrowed license to put the license into active operation. If the 
licensee fails to put the license into active operation within 5 years after its expiration, then all rights to the license shall terminate unless the 
commission has received written verification of either of the following: 

(a) That the license or an interest in the license is the subject of litigation or estate or bankruptcy proceedings in a court of competent 
jurisdiction. 

(b) That the license was placed into escrow as a result of damage to the licensed premises by fire, flood, tornado or other natural event that 
makes the licensed premises unsuitable for the operation of the business and unsafe for public accommodation. 

(3) If the Commission extends the length of time for which a licensee may renew the license during the pendency of litigation or estate or 
bankruptcy proceedings or as a result of damage to the licensed premises for the reasons as stated in subrule (2) of this rule, then the licensee 
shall pay the required license fee for each elapsed licensing year before placing the license in active operation. 

(4) The Commission may extend the length of time for which a licensee may renew the license upon written order of the Commission after a 
showing of good cause. 

(5) Except as provided in subrule (3) of this rule, a license held in escrow with the Commission shall be renewed in the same manner as an active 
license, including payment of all required license fees, each year by April 30. 

(6) A licensee who places a license in escrow with the Commission shall be responsible for providing the Commission with current contact 
information, in writing, for all correspondence, which includes the name, mailing address, and telephone number. 

(7) The Commission shall provide or attempt to provide each licensee whose license is in escrow with a copy of this rule. 

(8) A license that is held in escrow with the Commission on the effective date of this rule begins the 5-year period allowed by subrule 

(2) of this rule on March 24, 2004.

Good Cause Requirements Pursuant to R 436.1107(4) 

Commission consideration is required when a licensee needs an extension of time beyond the 5 year renewal/expiration period pursuant to R 
436.1107(2). A request for extension of time beyond the 5 year limit requires a written showing of good cause by the license holder. Failure by the 
licensee to provide this documentation may result in the denial of an extension beyond 5 years for lack of good cause shown, or could result 
in the cancellation of the license. 

A request for good cause for an escrow extension beyond 5 years should be submitted in writing to our office and include: 

1. A detailed description of the future plans for activation of the license. 

a) If the business will reopen under the current licensee, a business plan which details the time line, steps being taken for reopening and any 
renovation plans. 

b) If the license is for sale, a copy of the current sales listing or other marketing documentation that includes the list price of the license. 

c) A copy of the signed agreement to be used if you have found a buyer for your license. 

2. Current escrow contact information must be on file pursuant to R 436.1107(6). As the holder of a liquor license it is your responsibility to maintain 
current contact information on file with our office which includes a contact name, mailing address, and telephone number.  Failure to provide this 
information may result in the cancellation of the license. 

Frequently Asked Questions (FAQ) 

Question: My business is currently closed. What do I need to do with my license?  

Answer:     If your business is closed or will be closed for more than 30 days you need to submit your license document (along with the form LCC-108) 
to the Lansing offices of the Commission for escrow. As long as you continue to renew your license by April 30 every year, your license will 
remain on file. If you fail to renew the license it will expire and be cancelled - and cannot be reinstated. 

(FAQ continued next page)

Page 2 of 3LARA is an equal opportunity employer/program. Auxiliary aids, services and other reasonable accommodations are available upon request to individuals with disabilities. LCC-108 (07-18)



Page 3 of 3LARA is an equal opportunity employer/program. Auxiliary aids, services and other reasonable accommodations are available upon request to individuals with disabilities. LCC-108 (07-18)

 Frequently Asked Questions (FAQ) - Continued 

Question: If I place my license in escrow what am I required to do with my alcoholic beverage inventory? 

Answer:     You have a couple of different options available, depending on the type of license you hold. If you are selling your business, you can 
include the alcoholic beverage inventory in the sale of the business assets. Your beer and wine inventory can either be taken home for 
personal consumption or you can contact your wholesaler to see if they would be willing to take it back. You can also put in a request for 
your spirit inventory to be picked up by your Authorized Distribution Agent (ADA) and returned to the State for a refund, less 10%. If you 
are only closing temporarily or are requesting to move, you can either secure your alcoholic beverage inventory on the premises or make a 
written request to the Commission for permission to temporarily store your alcoholic beverage inventory in a secure, off site location. 

Question: How long can I hold my license in escrow? 

Answer:      Your license can be held in escrow for up to 5 years as long as you pay the license fee by April 30 annually. If the license is not renewed it 
will expire and be cancelled. 

Question: I am remodeling; do I have to place my license in escrow? 

Answer:     If you are not actively operating your business for more than 30 days you are required to submit your license document for escrow, with 
completed form LCC-108 in order to comply with R 436.1107(1). 

Question: How do I get my license out of escrow? How long does it take? 

Answer:      You can write to our office and request to have your license released from escrow. The time frame will vary, depending on how long your 
license has been in escrow. In some cases, our enforcement division may have to come out to your establishment and conduct an 
inspection prior the to the license release; our office would notify you of that requirement if that is the case. Plan to request a release of 
license from escrow several weeks in advance to avoid any potential interruptions in your business preparations. 

Question: My license was cancelled for non-renewal; can I get it back or request a hearing? 

Answer:      If your license is cancelled for non-renewal you would have to reapply for a different license. There is not a provision in the liquor control 
code that allows for a hearing to be conducted to reinstate a liquor license that was cancelled for non-renewal. To avoid this from 
happening, make sure that all of your mailing information stays current on file with our office to avoid unnecessary delays. All license 
renewal applications are mailed in February and are due by April 30 every year, regardless of whether or not your business is closed or you 
are operating. 

Question: I see that I have to return my liquor license document to be placed in to escrow - what are those documents? 

Answer:      A liquor license is the contract between you and the State of Michigan that allows you to sell alcoholic beverages. This is a document that 
is renewed yearly. It will tell you the types of licenses and permits you hold, the name and address of your establishment, and the dates of 
the licensing year for which the license is valid. 

Question: My license is issued under the provisions of MCL 436.1521a(1)(a) or MCL 436.1521a(1)(b). Can I place this license in escrow? 

Answer:      If you go out of business the license must be surrendered to the Commission for cancellation. If you are closing temporarily to remodel or 
have a special circumstance that requires you to close for a specific period of time, you can submit a written request to the Commission for 
its consideration. There are cases where you will be able to temporarily escrow your license, subject to renewal requirements and regular 
communication with the Commission on the status of your license. 

Question: My license has been in escrow for 5 years already . Will I be able to renew? 

Answer:     You will need to submit a written request to the Commission for an extension beyond 5 years under R 436.1107(4). The written request 
must demonstrate good cause for the Commission to consider the request. For what "good cause" constitutes see the escrow rules and 
good cause requirements attachment.  

Please note: After the fifth year of license renewal you will not receive any further renewal applications, unless you are approved for 
further extension beyond 5 years. To avoid cancellation of the license you must provide this written request with good cause in order to 
be considered for an extension of the escrow period. 

Question: May I cancel any of my licenses or permits for which fees I must pay annual renewal fees and just renew the main license in escrow? 

Answer:     If you hold any on-premises license, such as a Class C or B-Hotel license, or an off-premises Specially Designated Distributor license with 
which you hold a Specially Designated Merchant (SDM) license or you have permits for which an annual renewal fee is assessed, such as a 
Sunday Sales Permit, Banquet Facility Permit, Catering Permit, or additional bars, you may cancel the license and permits, leaving just the 
main license in escrow.  Payment of the renewal fees for the main license will still be required annually while the license remains in escrow, 
but you will not pay the extra fees for the SDM license or permits.  If you reactivate the license in the future and want the SDM license or 
permits added back to your main license, you will need to apply for them through the regular licensing process.



Michigan Department of Licensing and Regulatory Affairs 
Liquor Control Commission (MLCC) 

Constitution Hall – 525 W. Allegan, Lansing, MI 48933 
Mailing Address: PO Box 30005, Lansing, MI 48909 

Toll Free 866-813-0011 – www.michigan.gov/lcc 

License Location Transfer Requirements & General Information

Many types of retailer liquor licenses may be transferred within a local 
governmental unit or between local governmental units within the same county, under 
certain provisions of the law.  A current licensee may apply to transfer a license to a new 
location or an applicant may request a location transfer in conjunction with a request to 
transfer ownership of a license.

Retailer License Location Transfer Requirements

Off-Premises License Location Transfers
The location of a Specially Designated Distributor (SDD) license may be
transferred within a local unit of government or between local units of government
in the same county.
Resort Specially Designated Distributor licenses issued under MCL 436.1531(5)
cannot be transferred to a different location.
The location of a Specially Designated Merchant (SDM) license may be transferred
within a local unit of government or between local units of government in the same
county, unless the SDM license was originally issued after January 4, 2017 under
a subsection of MCL 436.1533 that prohibits it being transferred by location:

A SDM license issued under the “two-mile” waiver under MCL 436.1533(6).
A SDM license issued in conjunction with an on-premises licensed under
MCL 436.1533(5)(a).
A SDM license issued to an establishment that is at least 20,000 square
feet and at least 20% of gross receipts are derived from the sale of food
under MCL 436.1533(5)(b)(i).
A SDM license issued to an establishment that is a pharmacy under MCL
436.1533(5)(b)(ii).

On-Premises License Location Transfers
The location of an on-premises licenses (Class C, Tavern, B-Hotel, or A-Hotel)
may be transferred within a local unit of government or between local units of
government in the same county.  A license to be transferred between
governmental units must be placed into escrow before the transferred license can
be issued to the applicant at the new location.
On-premises resort licenses issued under MCL 436.1531(3) and (4) and on-
premises licenses issued under the law for specific locations or purposes may not
be transferred from one location to another.



 
 

 

 On-premises resort licenses issued under MCL 436.1531(2) may be transferred 
anywhere within the state. 

 
 

How to Apply 
 

All applicants requesting to transfer the location of a retail liquor license must submit the 
following: 
 
• Application Form 

 For on-premises licenses: On-Premises Retailer License & Permit Application 
(LCC-100a) 

 For off-premises licenses: Off-Premises Retailer License & Permit Application 
(LCC-100b) 

 
• Inspection Fee - A $70.00 nonrefundable inspection fee is required for each license 

requested in an application.  For example, if an applicant has requested to transfer a 
Class C license that has a Specially Designated Merchant license in conjunction, the 
inspection fee would be $140.00. 
 

• Property Document – Applicants must provide documentation that demonstrates 
they will have control over the property that comprises the proposed licensed 
premises.  Property documents include deeds, land contracts, and lease agreements. 

• A provision to reassign the license in the event of a default on a land contract or 
termination of a lease agreement may be included, but may only provide for the 
reassignment subject to Commission approval. 

• If the applicant is a company and its members or stockholders own the real estate 
as individuals or under another company, a lease agreement is needed. 

• If the applicant is an individual and he or she owns the real estate with a spouse 
or someone else who will not be named on the license, a lease between the 
applicant and the owners of the real estate is needed. 

 
 

Licensing Process 
 
The Licensing Division reviews the application and corresponding documents for 
completeness and verifies the appropriate fees have been received.  If additional 
documents, fees, or corrections to documents are needed, Licensing will notify the 
applicant.  Once all the necessary documents have been received Licensing will submit 
the request to the Enforcement Division for its investigation. 
 
The Enforcement Division will contact the applicant to schedule an interview with the 
applicant (and current licensee for license transfers).  At this meeting an investigator will 
review the purchase agreement, financial documents, property documents, and other 
items with the applicant.  After the interview, the investigator will prepare a report for the 
Commission regarding the investigation and submit the request back to Licensing for 
further processing. 



 
 

 

 
Licensing reviews the report from Enforcement and any additional documents received 
during the interview process.  The request is prepared for the Commission to consider 
and placed on a docket for an upcoming licensing meeting. 
 
The Commission considers the request, including the liquor license operating history of 
the applicant (if a current or prior licensee), the arrest and conviction record of the 
applicant, whether the applicant meets the requirements for a license, the applicant’s 
financial information, and the opinions of the local legislative body or police department, 
if received.  The Commission will approve or deny the request based on these factors.  
Occasionally, the Commission will request more information from the applicant before 
making a final decision. 
 
After the Commission makes a decision on the request, the file is returned to Licensing 
for final processing.  Approval orders are sent to the applicant requesting any final items 
before the issuance of the license.  Denial orders are sent to the applicant and the 
applicant may appeal the decision.  When all the final items are received by Licensing, 
the completed request is forwarded to the Renewal Unit for the issuance of the physical 
license documents. 
 
 

Churches & Schools 
 
A request to transfer location of an existing license, may be denied if the proposed 
location is within 500 feet of a church or school.  The Commission may waive the 
church/school provision if the church or school does not file an objection to the proposed 
license.  If the church or school does file an objection, the Commission shall hold a 
hearing before making a decision on the issuance of the license. 
 
 
 

Proof of Financial Responsibility 
 

 Liquor liability coverage of at least $50,000.00 is required by Michigan law for 
active operation of a licensed business.  Types of acceptable coverage are: 
o liquor liability insurance 
o cash 
o unencumbered securities 
o constant value bond 
o membership in an authorized group self-insurance pool 

 
 For more information, please read the instructions in the Proof of Financial 

Responsibility (LC-95). 
 


	11-7-22 Agenda
	AgendaPacket

